FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/27/2020 4:59 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No.	98595-2
-----	---------

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 78474-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

CHRISTY DIEMOND Petitioner/Plaintiff

v.

KING COUNTY, Respondent/Defendant.

APPELLANT CHRISTY DIEMOND'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Michele Earl-Hubbard, WSBA No. 26454 ALLIED LAW GROUP, LLC P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 Phone (206) 443-0200 Fax (206) 428-7169 michele@alliedlawgroup.com Attorneys for Petitioner Christy Diemond

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Christy Diemond ("Diemond") was the Plaintiff in the trial court and the Appellant in the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division One issued an opinion on 4/27/2020, filed herewith as **Appendix A**, upholding the underlying ruling of the trial court denying a CR 59 motion to modify a judgment. Division One refused to address solely on procedural grounds the trial court's summary judgment order itself or the orders denying reconsideration or to amend. The Brief of Appellant, Brief of Respondent, and Reply Brief are attached hereto as **Appendix B**.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in (a) upholding the trial court's order denying Petitioner's CR 59 Motion, and (b) finding that the trial court's summary judgment order and orders denying motions for reconsideration and to vacate were not properly before the appellate court and could not and would not be addressed?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in applying an abuse of discretion standard to the order given that it was challenging a grant of summary judgment to an agency in a PRA case and a finding that the agency's search was reasonable and that bank statements, canceled checks, vendor contracts requested were not "reasonably locatable" and need not be produced, and the penalties assessed for years of delay did not conform to this Court's precedents for appropriately penalizing agency violations?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Christy Diemond's mother became terminally ill, Christy began looking for adoptive homes for her two elderly horses so she could care for her mother. CP 274. She was referred to Regional Animal Services of King County ("RASKC") who committed to find her horses adoptive homes, so she gave them up for adoption. *Id.* Instead of finding the horses homes as promised, the RASKC animal control officer Jenee Westberg placed the animals with an alleged "horse rescue" operation, a vendor with whom the officer had a history of placing animals, forcing RASKC to pay the vendor large sums of taxpayer dollars over the coming months allegedly to care for the animals. Id. King County, through this RASKC officer and the vendor, then fabricated evidence and turned around and accused Christy of having starved her horses. The County criminally charged Christy to justify the placement and hiring of the "rescue" operation. CP 275. King County would ultimately try and convict Christy, based on fabricated evidence and perjured testimony of two County employees later discovered by Christy to have criminal records known to King County at the time of her prosecution or to have been identified during the criminal case as dishonest and terminated for serious misconduct. CP 55-59, 275. Christy and her attorney were deprived of this information, which should have been disclosed to her under **Brady v. Maryland**, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). CP 55-59. Christy began making Public Record Act ("PRA") requests 14 months prior to her trial to prove her innocence and to investigate those individuals who had testified against her because during her criminal trial she had received questionable invoices and records regarding her horses' care. CP 275. Also, in another prosecution of a different horse owner involving the same actors as in Christy's case, the defendant discovered double billing by two different "rescue" entities claiming to treat the same horse at two different facilities at the same time. CP 388-390. This became a pattern found in at least 11 other animal abuse allegations made by the same actors.

Christy made PRA requests to King County for financial records to follow the money trail related to these same vendors and actors to support a motion for a new trial, to appeal to prove her innocence and to clear her name. CP 274-275. The appellate record fully documents King County's failures to respond to Christy's requests. See App. B, Br. of App. at 5-19. She was forced to sue on 6/9/14. Two months after being sued, King County starting producing some of the requested financial records. CP 284, 379-87. The County still had produced no contracts, no checks or warrants, and no bank statements. CP 284. It had produced no invoices for several of the relevant years. CP 284. Nonetheless, the PRA Officer wrote on 8/24/14 that "[w]e have concluded our search for documents and find no further records

(sic) responsive to your request." CP 284, 387. Christy initiated discovery in the lawsuit seeking records requested in her PRA requests. Through discovery she obtained additional records responsive to her requests, records the County had denied existed or that it could find with its 8/24/14 emailed closure. CP 284. The County has still not produced **to this day** contracts, checks, warrants and many bank statements and numerous other documents responsive to her request.

On 8/29/17 the County moved for summary judgment for a determination that its search after it was sued had been reasonable and that the remaining requested records that had still not been produced were not "reasonably locatable" and need not be produced, ever. Christy responded asking for an evidentiary hearing, which was denied. CP 195, 264-265, 511-540. The County admitted its search prior to the lawsuit had not been reasonable. CP 928-930, 1080-1369. Christy established through filed depositions of the County's witnesses that they had been insufficiently trained and that the County lacked a sufficient tracking system for PRA requests. CP 1080-1369.

At an 10/18/17 summary judgment hearing, the trial court found that the County had violated the PRA in numerous ways prior to the lawsuit, determining that there were two groups of records, one of which had been withheld for 810 days and one of which had been withheld for 538 days,

and found numerous aggravating factors for penalty determination, but granted summary judgment to the County finding that its search eventually was "reasonable" such that it did not have to produce the remaining records requested by Christy. CP 193-195 and RP 10/18/17 at 58-60. The records not produced included contracts, cancelled checks or warrants and bank statements related to payments to the "horse rescue" vendor and veterinarian which Christy had requested and still not received. The County alleged it had searched for those records but could not provide them. Many of these vendors are involved as witnesses in criminal court cases, like Christy's, where payments made to vendors are a relevant area of criminal case discovery and trial evidence. CP 937-1369.

For bank records the County claimed it could not match the canceled checks to the bank statements although the statements, like all statements, show check numbers for checks that were cashed, and such check numbers or other payment reference on the statement could with searching be matched up to a specific vendor payment. CP 541-542, 546-555. Nonetheless the County argued the bank statements were not "reasonably locatable" as responsive on their own.

The trial court grouped the records into two groupings, despite their being requested on more than two dates and being produced on more than two dates, and imposed a penalty of \$55 per day times these two groups for

a total of 1,348 combined penalty days for a total penalty award of \$74,410.00 for the several years of withholding and PRA violations committed against Christy. CP 195-196. Her attorney's fee and cost award was reduced as the penalty amount was less than an Offer of Judgment Christy had received. CP 464-465. Her attorney withdrew for medical reasons just prior to the summary judgment hearing, and Christy was forced to represent herself pro so throughout the remaining trial court litigation. CP 264, 932-936.

Christy as a pro se timely moved for reconsideration of the summary judgment decision (see, e.g., CP 466-509), which motion was denied on 1/3/18 (CP 154). On 1/8/18 she filed a CR 60 motion to vacate the trial court's finding records were not reasonably locatable doing so on the basis of newly discovered evidence showing fraud and misrepresentations by the County. That motion was not heard until 2/22/18 due to delays by the trial court, and was denied on 2/22/18. On 3/1/18 Christy filed a CR 59(h) motion to amend the judgment. It was not heard until 5/24/18 due to delays by the trial court. CP 10-11, 438. It was denied on 5/24/18 (Order filed 5/25/18), but the trial court indicated the motion had been timely. CP 3. In a 5/24/18 Minute Order confirming the trial court's 5/24/18 oral ruling, the trial court noted "Plaintiff's only remedy at this point is to appeal the Court's ruling." CP 5. Christy promptly appealed the 5/25/18 Order and the

underlying summary judgment order that had been the issue of her timely CR 59 motion for reconsideration and the CR 60 motion to vacate.

A Division One Commissioner determined that the 5/25/18 denial could be appealed, but not the other orders as Christy did not earlier appeal from the 1/3/18 CR 59 denial while she waited for the trial court to rule on her long-pending CR 60 and CR 59(h) motions. Division One issued its Opinion on 4/27/2020 without allowing oral argument.

V. ARGUMENT

Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4), as explained below. The Opinion conflicts with decisions of the State Supreme Court and published decisions of the Courts of Appeal meriting acceptance pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). It further involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and finally it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. Standard of Review Confusion:

The appellate court here applied the "abuse of discretion" standard to the sole order it reviewed –a denial of a CR 59 motion to modify. **Opinion** at 2. But this is a PRA case, and the underlying summary judgment order – frankly all orders in a PRA case – are to be reviewed *de novo*. See, e.g.,

O'Connor v. Department of Social & Health Servs., 143 Wn.2d 895, 904, 25 P.3d 426 (2001); Progressive Animal Welfare Society v.

University of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 252, 884 P.2d 592 (1995)

(PAWS II"). Here, such *de novo* review was even more necessary as the trial court granted summary judgment to the agency and held that the agency's search, after it was sued, was "reasonable" and that no more records were "reasonably locatable" and thus need not be produced.

Caselaw is replete with decisions of the Courts of Appeal and of the Supreme Court holding that rulings granting or denying summary judgment are reviewed *de novo*. <u>See, e.g., Peterson v. State</u>, 460 P.3d 1080 (April 17, 2020); <u>Rocha v. King County</u>, 460 P.3d 624 (April 9, 2020); <u>Ehrhart v. King County</u>, 460 P.3d 612 (April 2, 2020); <u>In re</u> <u>Gilbert Miller Testamentary Credit Shelter Trust</u>, __ P.3d __, No. 80094-9-I, 2020 WL 2111250, No. 80094-9-I (Div. 1, May 4, 2020, Published). On summary judgment, trial courts, and reviewing courts, are to construe the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. <u>Keck v. Collins</u>, 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). In this case, that meant all facts and reasonable inferences were to be construed in the light most favorable to the requestor non-movant Christy. That clearly did not occur – either at the trial court stage or on appeal, and both were error.

Caselaw, unfortunately, also have statements that review of CR 59 and CR 60 Orders are to be reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. See, e.g., Rivers v. Washington State Conference of Mason Contractors, 145 Wn.2d 674 (2002); Brundridge v. Fluor Federal Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432 (2008); Northwest Land and Inv., Inc. v. New West Federal Sav. And Loan Ass'n, 64 Wn.App. 938 (Div. 3, 1992); Martini v. Post, 178 Wn.App. 153 (Div. 2, 2013); Sligar v. Odell, 156 Wn. App. 720 (Div. 1, 2010).

This conflict of the dueling standards of review creates the situation we have here, where the CR 60 or CR 59 decisions refusing to modify or reconsider a summary judgment order are allowed to stand, and the appellate court refuses to review the summary judgment order or any of its findings and conclusions that should be reviewed *de novo*. This case represents the opportunity, perhaps the only opportunity, to confirm the standard of review to be applied when a trial court's factual determinations as to adequacy of a search and duty not to produce records in a PRA case is challenged. This case presents an opportunity, and perhaps the only such opportunity, to instruct trial judges as to the standard of review to be applied when faced with a CR 59 or CR 60 motion attacking such findings. Few requestors will have the ability, or incentive, to appeal when a trial court grants summary judgment to an

agency finding a search was reasonable and no more records are "reasonably locatable" or to be produced, and in the absence of appellate guidance more requestors will be denied important public records as was Christy.

B. Jurisdictional Confusion:

King County argued that the trial court, Appellate Commissioner, and Division One panel of judges lacked jurisdiction to hear the appeal or consider all the Orders Christy addressed because the County alleges she failed to meet deadlines set forth in Court Rules for filing motions or her Notice of Appeal. King County alleged that compliance with Court Rule proscribed deadlines is necessary to confer jurisdiction upon such courts.¹

The Opinion refused to hear Diemond's appeal of the summary judgment order and earlier CR 59 and CR 60 Orders, allowing court rules to dictate the Court's powers. This premise—that courts lose jurisdiction and power to rule if a court rule imposed deadline or procedure is not met—was explicitly declared incorrect by the United States Supreme Court in the 2017 decision of **Hamer v. Neighborhood Housing Services of Chicago**, 138 S. Ct. 13, 199 L.Ed.2d 249 (2017). In **Hamer**, a District Court had held

appellate jurisdiction", "lacked authority" and "lacks appellate jurisdiction").

10

¹ See, e.g., App. B, Brief of Respondent at 2 ("lacks authority"), at 3 ("does not have authority" and "lack authority"), at 4 ("lacked authority"), at 12 ("lacked authority"), at 14 ("this Court lacks jurisdiction"), at 14 ("lacked authority" and "lacked jurisdiction"), at 15 ("lacked authority" and "lacked discretionary authority"), and at 18 ("it has no

that it lacked jurisdiction to hear an appeal of a grant of summary judgment when the appeal was filed beyond the date allowed by Court Rules. The case addressed the misconception that a court rule can preclude jurisdiction of a court. The US Supreme Court held it could not. It held that statutes, created by the Legislature, could control jurisdiction such as determining the date by which a claim must be brought, but court rules were merely "claim-processing rules" which can be waived or forfeited and do not determine whether a court has jurisdiction to hear a matter. <u>Id.</u>

This Court in its recent decision in <u>Denney v. City of Richland</u>, No. 97494-2, __ P.3d __ (5/7/2020) implicitly recognized this point when it ruled that the PRA requestor was entitled to an extension of time to file his Notice of Appeal due to his confusion as to his deadline. This Court recognized that an "appellate court may waive or alter the provisions of any of these rules in order to serve the ends of justice in extraordinary circumstance and to prevent a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id.</u> at 10. Caselaw in this state is replete with conflicting authority, still suggesting that court-made rules or procedures can constitute a jurisdictional bar. See, e.g., cases cited by King County, <u>Griffin v. Draper</u>, 32 Wn. App. 611 (Div. 2, 1982) (holding appellate court lacked jurisdiction); <u>Metz v. Sarandos</u>, 91 Wn. App. 357, 357 P.23d 795 (Div. 2, 1998) (ruling on jurisdictional grounds that trial judge was prohibited from determining that the date starting the 10

day deadline to file a Motion for Reconsideration was the date the party would have received the Order at issue, not the date it was sent to the clerk for filing); **Schaeffer v. Columbia River Gorge**, 121 Wn.2d 368, 949 P.2d 1225 (1993) (declining to grant additional time for the notice of appeal when a party timely filed, but did not timely serve, a motion for reconsideration on his opponent and waited four days to do so, ruling court was precluded from accepting appeals absent extraordinary circumstances for noncompliance with a court rule)

A Court is not precluded from accepting appeals, even absent extraordinary circumstances, and it does not lose jurisdiction to hear an appeal merely because an appellant does not meet court rule imposed deadlines or court procedures. Under <u>Hamer</u>, a trial court does not lose jurisdiction to hear a matter if court rule imposed deadlines are missed, nor does an appellate court lose jurisdiction to hear an appeal if court rule imposed deadlines are missed. Only a statute, drafted by the Legislature, can deprive a court of jurisdiction. A court rule imposed deadline or procedure is merely a "claim-processing rule" and cannot deprive a court of jurisdiction. Id.

Other Washington State appellate decisions illustrate that the court rule deadline or procedure cannot impose an unchangeable barrier to court jurisdiction. For example, in a series of cases our appellate courts have

recognized that parties must have actual notice of an order before they can be expected to appeal it, automatically accepting appeals filed beyond the court rule deadline without any discussion of jurisdiction or power. In **State ex rel. L.L. Buchanan & Co. v. Washington Public Service Commission**,, this Court held that a failure of a party to serve notice of entry of an order on its opponent did not start the clock for the deadline to file an appeal, making the appeal ultimately filed timely. **State ex rel. L.L. Buchanan & Co. v. Washington Public Service Commission**, 39 Wn.2d 706, 709-710, 237 P/.2d 1024 (1951).

Division One, held in **Coleman v. Dennis**:

Defendant did not serve Plaintiff or his counsel with a copy of the order granting a new trial. The order was entered in the absence of counsel. Neither the plaintiff nor his counsel waived notice of presentation of the order. Failure to serve the order or notice of its entry is fatal to defendant's motion to dismiss the appeal.

<u>Coleman v. Dennis</u>, 1 Wn. App. 299, 301, 461 P.2d 552 (Div. 1, 1969) (emphasis added).

Division Two in the unpublished case of <u>Wright v. Washington State</u>

<u>Department of Labor and Industries</u>, , held that an administrative appeal was timely filed and should be reinstated when the Department conceded

that there were significant delays between when the Department issued its decision and when Wright received it, and between when Wright mailed his notice of appeal and when the trial court received it, both caused by the prison mail system.

Wright v. Washington State Department of Labor and Industries 197
Wn. App. 1017, *1, No. 48829-9-II (Div. 2, Dec. 30, 2016).

The United States Supreme Court in **Rosenbloom v. United States**,, ruled an appeal was timely when the District Court failed to timely send the party a notice of entry of an order and the record failed to show with sufficient clarity that the party and his attorney had actual notice of the entry of an order earlier. **Rosenbloom**, 355 U.S. 80, 80-81, 78 S. Ct. 202, 2 L.Ed.23d 110 (1957).

These cases illustrate that court rule imposed deadlines do not control jurisdiction and further that—regardless of what a rule may say—it cannot trump or invalidate other necessary rights such as due process and notice and fundamental fairness.

Even where there is a court rule, Washington's appellate court rules recognize the Court's power to alter its rules, and its procedures, to ensure justice is done. RAP 1.2(a) states

These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b).

RAP 1.2(c) states "The appellate court may waive or alter the provisions of any of these rules in order to serve the ends of justice, subject to the

restrictions in rule 18.8(b) and (c)." RAP 18.8(b) provides that the appellate court can extend the time to file a Notice of Appeal or Motion for Reconsideration "in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice."

The trial court was empowered to hear the motions filed by Christy, even if filed beyond court rule imposed deadlines, and the trial judge here explicitly rejected King County's argument that the 3/1/18 Motion appealed from here was untimely. (The 3/1/18 Motion was not decided until 5/25/18 due to the trial court's delay.) The trial court further delayed decision for months of the relevant motions filed by Christy as a pro se, lulling her into not filing an appeal as she waited for the trial court to rule. The trial court further ruled in its 5/24/18 Minute Entry that Christy was empowered to appeal to the appellate courts. CP 5. Christy demonstrated ample circumstances to justify consideration of her appeal, and the 11/27/17 Order, 1/3/18 Order on Motion for Reconsideration, 2/22/18 Order Denying Motion to Vacate, and 5/25/18 Order denying her motion to amend the Judgment. At the heart of this appeal is an appellate court record showing King County lied to Christy, a criminal defendant it was prosecuting, in 2014 when it told her all records had been produced, failed to perform a reasonable search for those records for years until after it was sued despite knowing that time was of the essence and that Christy needed these records to defend herself in the criminal case brought against her by the County, and that the County was found by the trial court to have inadequately trained staff, inadequate tracking procedures, a failure to comply with PRA procedural requirements, and to have acted with a "high degree of negligence". CP 7-8. And the record further demonstrates that this same agency has been found by courts to have committed similar violations numerous times, including in the **Yousoufian v. King County** cases I-V.² Many years after the end of the lengthy **Yousoufian** litigation, after costing taxpayers one of the largest PRA judgments of all time, King County still had not, and has not, fixed its procedures or learned its lesson. Further, in this case King County still has not produced bank statements, canceled checks, vendor contracts and data and other clearly accessible records sought by Christy, and it was given a free pass by the trial court and allowed to not produce these records on the claim the records are not "reasonably locatable. When the largest County in the State with an eleven billion dollar biennial budget cannot "reasonable locate" its bank statements, canceled checks, vendor contracts, and other backup for routine auditing, that is a

-

²Yousoufian v. King County, 114 Wn. App. 836, 60 P.3d 667 (2003) ("Yousoufian I"), reversed on other grounds, Yousoufian v. King County, 152 Wn.2d 421, 98 P.3d 463 (2004) ("Yousoufian II"); Yousoufian v. King County, 137 Wn. App. 69, 151 P.3d 243 (2007) ("Yousoufian III"), Yousoufian v. King County, 165 Wn.2d 439, 200 P.3d 232 (2009) ("Yousoufian IV"); Yousoufian v. King County, 168 Wn.2d 444 ("Yousoufian V").

basis for Court enforcement, not a free pass. Division One erred by allowing a technical argument—created by the Defendant and the trial court by delaying ruling on Diemond's motions and lulling her into believing she need not appeal until the court finally ruled—to prevent review of these important issues.

Christy appealed the 11/27/17 Order and the 5/25/18 Order denying her final motion to amend and the intervening orders also denying reconsideration, vacation or amendment. Her notice brings up for review the underlying orders of 1/3/18 and 2/22/18 pursuant to RAP 2.4(b) as these orders or rulings ""prejudicially affects the decision designated in the notice," and (2) "the order is entered, or the ruling is made, before the appellate court accepts review." The trial court delayed for months entering its rulings on Christy's motion, and she appealed when instructed by the trial court in its Minute Entry of 5/24/18 after it orally ruled on 5/24/18 on her 3/1/18 motion. The Division One Opinion erred for refusing to consider the other orders.

C. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Denying the CR 59 and CR 60 Motions of Diemond.

Even if the Court were to apply an abuse of discretion standard, the errors here are so clearly contrary to binding precedent an abuse of discretion would be shown. King County admitted that it had not made a reasonable search for records before being sued and that its statement to Christy in 2014 that all records had been produced was a lie. It admitted it had not produced bank statements, canceled checks, or warrants or contracts and contract data for vendors which the County was required to keep and maintain to comply with its fiscal as well as statutory duties as a County. It showed that it knew how to match up and track which payments belonged to which vendors such that it could identify which bank statements and which canceled checks and warrants met the scope of the records requested by Christy. But the trial court nonetheless gave the County a free pass not to produce such records in the face of evidence showing the County misled the court when it denied that all vendors have contracts and W-9s and other centrally locatable documents it told the court did not exist.

The trial court further abused its discretion by failing to comply with binding PRA precedents, such as <u>Wade's Eastside Gun Shop</u>

<u>Inv. v. Department of Labor & Industries</u>, 185 Wn.2d 270, 372

P.3d 97 (2016) and <u>Yousoufian V</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 462-463 and <u>Yousoufian II</u>, 152 Wn.2d at 429-430, requiring that penalty calculations take into account actual economic harm to the requestor and the need for an award to cause deterrence particularly when the

agency is a large wealthy entity like King County and an agency that has been held to have habitually with premeditation continually violated the PRA. The trial court's grouping of the documents, assessment of the penalty, and its denial of motions to amend or reconsider that award, was an abuse of discretion and a rejection of these binding precedents and the will of the people as stated in the PRA.

Finally, the trial court's ruling that the search conducted was reasonable does not follow the guidance from this Court in binding precedents. This Court has held that agencies must do "more than a perfunctory search and follow obvious leads as they are uncovered."

Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 172

Wn.2d 702, 720, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). An agency must search for a record in "those places where it is reasonably likely to be found." *Id*.

Agencies must make a sincere and adequate search for records. When an agency denies a public records request on the grounds that no responsive records exist, its response should show at least some evidence that it sincerely attempted to be helpful.

Fisher Broadcasting-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180

Wn.2d 515, 522, 326 P.3d 688, 692 (2014). The record in this case demonstrating gross incompetence and situations, like

Yousoufian, where the right hand did not know what the left had

was doing. Employees assigned to handle Christy's request left their jobs or were transferred and the task was handed off to a new employee with insufficient training or explanation and zero tracking systems. CP 391-424, 1080-1369. Employees did not conduct searches themselves but relied on other employees, with insufficient understanding of the request at issue, to run reports or generate lists and did not look further than that document. CP 391-424, 1080-1369. Employees did not look in the building where records were actually housed, and waited to be sued to perform even a cursory attempt to produce records. CP 391-424, 1080-1369. When it came time for summary judgment, King County's excuse why the records were not "locatable" and why its search should be deemed "reasonable" was that it was hard and time consuming, it made a minimal attempt, and that should be deemed good enough. Division One erred in finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the CR 59 Order it did consider.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Petition should be accepted so this Court can resolve the conflicts created by the Opinion and clarify the correct law for this State.