FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/26/2020 1:53 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98595-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTY R. DIEMOND,

Petitioner,

v.

KING COUNTY

Respondent.

RESPONDENT KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

John R. Zeldenrust, WSBA No. 19797 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent King County King County Administration Building 500 Fourth Avenue, Suite 900 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-0430

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE

Trial courts lack authority to rule on untimely motions for reconsideration. In this case, Diemond filed an untimely motion to "alter or amend" a judgment under CR 59(h) and the trial court concluded that Diemond's motion did not present sufficient grounds for amendment of the judgment. On appeal, the Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion and affirmed, but based its ruling on other grounds – apparently, the fact that the trial court did not have authority to rule on Diemond's untimely motion in the first place. Does the Court of Appeals' ruling present any grounds for discretionary review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying facts and procedural sequence in this case are not disputed. The trial court entered summary judgment on November 27, 2017. CP 193-196. Diemond filed a timely motion for reconsideration, and the trial court denied it on January 3, 2018. CP 152. Diemond filed a CR 60 motion to vacate on January 8, 2018 (CP 60), which the trial court denied on February 22, 2018. CP 24-25. Diemond then filed a second motion for reconsideration (CR 59(h) motion to alter or amend the judgment) on March 1, 2018. CP 20-23. The trial court determined that Diemond's CR 59(h) motion failed to present grounds for amendment of the judgment, and denied her motion on May 25, 2018. CP 10-11.

Diemond filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals, Division One, on May 29, 2018. CP 1-9. A Court Commissioner determined that Diemond's notice of appeal was untimely as to the trial court's November 27, 2017 judgment and its January 3, 2018 denial of Diemond's first motion to reconsider that judgment. *See* Commissioner's letter ruling dated 8/16/18. The Commissioner further ruled that Diemond's appeal was not timely as to the trial court's February 22, 2018 order denying her CR 60 motion to vacate. *Id*.

The Commissioner found that Diemond's appeal was timely only as to the May 25, 2018 order denying her second motion for reconsideration.

Id. Although the Court gave Diemond the opportunity to establish that the appeal period should be enlarged, she declined to take advantage of it. See Commissioner's Ruling letter ruling dated 9/7/18.

The appeal proceeded to the merits, and the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision dated April 27, 2020. The Court ruled that Diemond's second motion for reconsideration (i.e. March 1, 2018 CR 59(h) motion to alter or amend) was not timely. The Court determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying this motion, but appeared to base its ruling on other grounds: that the trial court lacked authority to rule on Diemond's untimely second motion for reconsideration. *See Christy Diemond v. King County*, No. 78474-9-I, 2020 WL 2026716 *3 (Wn.App. 4/27/2020) Diemond filed a Petition for Discretionary review with this Court on May 27, 2020.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

RAP 13.4(b) lists four considerations this Court examines when determining whether to grant discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Diemond contends that the Court of Appeals ruling in this case satisfies all of the above criteria. *See* Petition, at 7. She provides no analysis supporting this claim, and for the reasons set forth below, she is mistaken.

A. There is No Conflict Between the De Novo Standard of Review applied to Appeals from Summary Judgment Orders and the Abuse of Discretion Standard of Review applied to appeals from Orders on Motions for Reconsideration.

Diemond first suggests there is "standard of review confusion" because the "dueling standards of review" create a situation "where the CR 60 or CR 59 decisions refusing to modify or reconsider a summary judgment order are allowed to stand, and the appellate court refuses to review the summary judgment order or any of its findings and conclusions that should be reviewed de novo." Petition, at 7, 9. The solution to Diemond's dilemma is provided in RAP 2.4(c), which states that an order

deciding a *timely* CR 59 motion brings up for review the final judgment. Thus, had Diemond timely appealed the Court's January 3, 2018 order denying her first motion for reconsideration, the Court of Appeals would have also reviewed *de novo* the trial court's November 27, 2017 summary judgment order.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled that the Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Denying Diemond's Second, Untimely Motion for Reconsideration.

The Court of Appeals' determined that (1) Diemond's second motion for reconsideration was not timely, and (2) that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying it. *See Diemond*, 2020 WL 2026716 *3. The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court that Diemond "did not present grounds for the judgment to be amended[,]" but apparently affirmed on the alternate ground that Diemond's motion was not timely. *See id.*, note 5. This "alternate ground" follows established law. *See Schaefco, Inc.*, v. *Columbia River Gorge Com'n*, 121 Wn.2d 366, 367-68, 849 P.2d 1225 (1993) (trial court may not extend time period for filing a motion for reconsideration).

Diemond argues at length that the Court of Appeals erred because courts do not lose jurisdiction and "power to rule" because a party fails to comply with court rules. *See* Petition, at 10 (citing *Hamer v. Neighborhood*

Housing Services of Chicago, 138 S.Ct. 13 (2017)). But nowhere in the Court of Appeals' three-page, unpublished ruling is this proposition stated. Indeed, the Court does not even use the word "jurisdiction" in its opinion. The Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion and affirmed based on established law that a trial court cannot extend the time period for filing a motion for reconsideration. Diemond makes no credible showing how this ruling satisfies any of the criteria under RAP 13.4(b).

Lastly, Diemond argues that the trial court abused its discretion by deciding – on the merits – that she failed to present grounds for the judgment to be amended. Petition, at 17. She argues that the trial court failed to comply with "binding PRA precedents, . . ." requiring that a requestor's alleged economic harm must be taken into account in calculating a PRA penalty. *Id.* But it is the Court of Appeals' ruling – not the trial court's ruling – that must satisfy one or more criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Because Diemond makes no credible argument as to how any of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria are satisfied by the Court of Appeals' decision, the Court should deny her petition for review.

VI. CONCLUSION

Diemond's petition provides no legitimate argument that the Court of Appeals' unpublished, three-page decision satisfies any of the criteria for

discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Respondent King County therefore asks this Court to deny it.